

W&M ScholarWorks

Undergraduate Honors Theses

Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects

5-2023

Associations Among Self-Regulation, Life Stress, and Suicidal Ideation in Adolescents: A Developmental Psychopathology Approach

Yifan Yuan William & Mary

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.wm.edu/honorstheses

Part of the Child Psychology Commons, Clinical Psychology Commons, and the Developmental Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Yuan, Yifan, "Associations Among Self-Regulation, Life Stress, and Suicidal Ideation in Adolescents: A Developmental Psychopathology Approach" (2023). *Undergraduate Honors Theses*. William & Mary. Paper 1946.

https://scholarworks.wm.edu/honorstheses/1946

This Honors Thesis -- Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, & Master Projects at W&M ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Undergraduate Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of W&M ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@wm.edu.

Associations Among Self-Regulation, Life Stress, and Suicidal Ideation in Adolescents: A Developmental Psychopathology Approach

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Bachelor of Science in Psychological Sciences from William & Mary

by

Yifan Yuan

Accepted for Honors

(Honors, High Honors, Highest Honors)

Madelyn Labella, Advisor

Dr. Meghan Quinn

Dr. Noah Lemos

Williamsburg, VA May 8, 2023

Department of Psychological Sciences

William & Mary

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Introduction	5
Self-Regulation and Youth Suicidality	7
Life Stress and Youth Suicidality	11
The Present Study	12
Method	13
Participants and Procedures	13
Measures	14
Self-Regulation	14
Life Stress	19
Suicidality Outcomes	20
Demographic Covariates	20
Data Analytic Plan	21
Results	22
Discussion	23
References	31
Tables	47
Table 1	47
Table 2	48
Table 3	49
Table 4	50
Appendix A	51
Table A1	51
Table A2	52

Abstract

Background: Suicide is a major public health concern among adolescents. Although research has made progress in identifying risk factors for youth suicidality, there has been less focus on early developmental antecedents of youth suicidal thoughts and behaviors. Taking a developmental psychopathology perspective, we examined longitudinal associations among multiple aspects of self-regulation (i.e., emotion regulation, emotion reactivity, parasympathetic regulation, inhibitory control), life stress, and suicidal ideation. We hypothesized that deficits in self-regulation during middle childhood and early adolescence and greater life stress during early and middle childhood would predict higher lifetime suicidal ideation reported in adolescence. **Method:** Participants were adolescents (N = 177) enrolled in a longitudinal follow-up of a randomized control trial evaluating the efficacy of a parenting intervention in infancy. Selfregulation was assessed using parent-reported emotion regulation, self-reported emotion reactivity, parasympathetic regulation (i.e., respiratory sinus arrhythmia at rest and in response to challenge), and inhibitory control during two behavioral tasks. Early life stress was scored based on parent report, and adolescents reported suicidal ideation. Bivariate and multivariate analyses were used to assess socio-demographics, risk group, self-regulation, and life stress as predictors of youth suicidality.

Results: Greater emotion reactivity significantly predicted greater suicidal ideation intensity in adolescence, and this association persisted after controlling for sex. Other candidate predictors were not significantly associated with youth suicidality, although life stress during early and middle childhood predicted worse emotion regulation and inhibitory control during middle childhood.

Conclusion: Results provide evidence for heightened emotion reactivity as a risk factor for

4

suicidal ideation in adolescents and have clinical implications for prevention and intervention targeting youth suicidality. More research is needed on the role of life stress in predicting self-regulation in middle childhood and beyond.

Keywords: Adolescents, suicide, suicidal ideation, self-regulation, early life stress

Associations Between Self-Regulation, Life Stress, and Suicidal Ideation in Adolescents:

A Developmental Psychopathology Approach

Suicidal thoughts and behaviors (STBs) are major public health concerns in adolescents. Alarmingly, suicide is the second leading cause of death among adolescents aged 10-14 and the third leading cause of death among adolescents aged 15-19 in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2020). In 2021, 22% of U.S. high school students reported seriously considering attempting suicide in the past year, and 10% reported having made one or more suicide attempts in the past year, with rates consistently increasing starting from 2017 (CDC, 2017; 2019; 2021). These statistics present an urgent need for a better understanding of the development of STBs among adolescents in order to inform timely, targeted prevention and intervention strategies.

Research over the past decades has made progress in identifying risk factors and correlates associated with youth STBs, including environmental (e.g., childhood maltreatment and bullying), psychological (e.g., affective, cognitive, and social processes), and biological factors (Cha et al., 2018). However, there remain significant gaps in the current literature on youth suicidality. First, most studies have focused on single, static risk factors using cross-sectional designs (Franklin et al., 2017), limiting their ability to compare effects across different candidate risk factors. Second, most of what we know about youth suicidality comes from data collected exclusively during adolescence. With limited research investigating the vulnerable periods before adolescence (Soole et al., 2015), we know little about the developmental antecedents of STBs from early or middle childhood into adolescence. These gaps limit our ability to effectively prevent and intervene youth STBs.

One promising way to bridge these gaps is to integrate a developmental psychopathology

perspective into youth suicide research. This perspective, which conceptualizes psychopathology as a deviation from normative development emerging dynamically from the interactions of internal systems and external contexts across the lifecourse, carries unique benefits (Cicchetti & Rogosch, 2002). First, it allows researchers to identify risk factors relevant to specific developmental periods and thus recognize potential mechanisms in the developmental progression of youth STBs (Oppenheimer et al., 2022). Specifically, studying the associations between deviations from typical developmental trajectories in early to middle childhood and suicide-related outcomes in adolescence enhances our understanding of the nature of youth STBs as well as possible causal pathways. Second, our knowledge of youth suicidality informed by a developmental psychopathology perspective can be utilized to guide the development of prevention and intervention strategies targeted to each developmental phase before the emergence of youth STBs. Waiting until suicidal behavior has already developed brings about significant healthcare costs (Babcock et al., 2021; Glenn et al., 2017) as well as considerable suffering on the individual, family, and social level. Thus, early preventive measures are needed to alleviate both the financial and social burden of youth STBs.

In view of the fact that our ability to predict suicidality is only slightly above chance levels (Franklin et al., 2017), the developmental psychopathology framework may improve the prediction of youth suicidality by examining the unique and combined effects of multiple risk factors from childhood to adolescence. Reflecting the commitment of developmental psychopathology to incorporating multiple levels of analysis (Cicchetti & Rogosch, 2002), researchers may conceptualize suicide as resulting from the complex interplay of many different environmental, psychological, and biological factors (Beurs et al., 2021). One candidate risk factor involves difficulty with self-regulation at both the physiological and behavioral levels.

Self-Regulation and Youth Suicidality

Self-regulation, an umbrella term that encompasses multiple regulatory factors, offers a promising framework for psychopathology research (Strauman, 2017). Self-regulation is defined as "the process by which people initiate, maintain, and control their own thoughts, behaviors, or emotions, with the intention of producing a desired outcome or avoiding an undesired outcome" (Strauman, 2017, p. 498). Dysfunction in self-regulation has been associated with a range of psychological disorders including eating disorders, substance use disorders, depression, and anxiety disorders (Ryan et al., 1997; Leary & Buttermore, 2003). Furthermore, research has demonstrated that difficulty self-regulating in early childhood predicts more internalizing and externalizing problems in middle childhood, and difficulty self-regulating in middle childhood predicts more depressive symptoms and externalizing problems in adolescence (Robson et al., 2020). Given the predictive power of self-regulation for general psychological functioning, researchers have examined the associations between youth suicidality and aspects of self-regulation, including emotion regulation, emotion reactivity, parasympathetic nervous system regulation, and inhibitory control (e.g., Brausch et al., 2022).

There is much evidence indicating that emotion regulation is associated with youth suicidality. Research with psychiatric inpatients found that limited access to emotion regulation strategies predicted past-year suicidal ideation (SI; Hatkevich et al., 2019) and suicide risk (Eaddy et al., 2019). Research with community-based youth has documented that different emotion regulation difficulties predict past-year presence of SI, recent SI severity, future SI severity, past-year suicide attempt (SA), and suicide risk (Brausch et al., 2022; Brausch & Woods, 2019; Haliczer et al., 2021; Pisani et al., 2013). Moreover, better emotion regulation is negatively associated with both SI and SA and may serve as a protective factor for youth suicidality (Barr et al., 2017; Ong

& Thompson, 2019). Interestingly, a study has shown that alexithymia, a factor associated with impaired emotion regulation (Preece et al., 2023) and characterized as the difficulty in identifying and describing feelings, is positively associated with SI in adolescents (Cerutti et al., 2018).

Emotion reactivity, a construct related to emotion regulation, refers to "the extent to which an individual experiences emotions (a) in response to a wide array of stimuli (i.e., emotion sensitivity), (b) strongly or intensely (i.e., emotion intensity), and (c) for a prolonged period of time before returning to baseline level of arousal (i.e., emotion persistence)" (Nock et al., 2008, p. 107). Findings regarding the relationship between emotion reactivity and youth suicidality are mixed. Studies have shown that emotion reactivity is positively correlated with SI in middle schoolers (Evans et al., 2016) and adolescents (Liu et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2021). However, one study found that emotion reactivity did not uniquely predict lifetime SI after including depressive symptoms in the model (Evans et al., 2016), and another study found no significant relationship between emotion reactivity and SI or SA in a sample of adolescents presenting to an emergency outpatient department (Kandsperger et al., 2021). Studies to date have yet to give a clear answer regarding the relationship between youth suicidality and emotion reactivity. Therefore, future research is needed to clarify conflicting findings.

Though multiple lines of evidence have highlighted the relationship between suicidality and emotional functioning in youth, most studies have relied on self-report measures of emotion regulation and emotion reactivity, which may be subject to social desirability and recall bias (Hunt et al., 2003). It is important to also utilize more objective measures of self-regulation. One example is using respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA) to assess the parasympathetic nervous system functioning as a physiological indicator of self-regulation. Specifically, numerous studies have pointed out the close connection between RSA and emotion regulation (Beauchaine & Thayer,

2015; Thayer & Lane, 2000; Thayer et al., 2012). There are two types of RSA data that are of particular interest to researchers: resting RSA and RSA in response to challenge. Higher levels of resting RSA are associated with relaxation and indicative of adaptive self-regulation (Beauchaine, 2001; Hastings et al., 2014). Conversely, lower levels of resting RSA are associated with an increased risk for internalizing and externalizing symptoms (Beauchaine, 2015; Beauchaine & Thayer, 2015). On the other hand, moderate RSA decreases in stressful environments are considered to be adaptive physiological functioning (Beauchaine, 2001; Hastings et al., 2014), whereas excessive decreases or increases in RSA reactivity to challenge are typically associated with psychopathology (Graziano & Derefinko, 2013).

The relationship between parasympathetic nervous system regulation and youth suicidality has received moderate empirical support. Current research has demonstrated that parasuicidal adolescents (i.e., suicidal and non-suicidal self-injurious adolescents) had lower resting RSA compared to their controls (Crowell et al., 2005). However, other studies found no relationship between resting RSA and youth suicidality. Specifically, one study found no difference in resting RSA among three groups: adolescents with lifetime depression and STBs, adolescents with lifetime depression but no STBs, and healthy controls (Yang et al., 2019). Another study found that resting RSA was not concurrently associated with or longitudinally predictive of SI in adolescent females (Giletta et al., 2017). Results regarding RSA reactivity to challenge in suicidal youth are also mixed. Studies have found that children and adolescents with a history of STBs did not display a normative RSA decrease in response to stressful or emotional contexts as exhibited by controls, instead showing stable RSA (James et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2019) or a greater RSA decrease than non-suicidal peers (Crowell et al., 2005; Kaufman et al., 2018). One study also found that adolescents who showed greater RSA decreases in response to challenge were at higher risk

for suicidal ideation in the subsequent nine months (Giletta et al., 2017). Further research is needed to clarify the link between suicidality and parasympathetic self-regulation, as measured by resting RSA and RSA reactivity to challenge.

Inhibitory control, another important aspect of self-regulation, has been defined as "an essential executive function" that includes the capacity to inhibit prepotent cognitive and motor responses (McHugh et al., 2019, p. 53). Inhibitory control is often measured using behavioral tasks that require individuals to suppress automatic responses: for example, Flanker tasks that require individuals to ignore distractor images while responding to a central prompt. Evidence regarding the relationship between inhibitory control and suicide-related outcomes in youth has been inconclusive. One study measuring inhibitory control with a two-choice oddball paradigm (i.e., a behavioral task that asks participants to respond to standard and deviant stimuli by pressing different keys as accurately and quickly as possible) found that college students with SI had worse inhibitory control than individuals without SI (Lin et al., 2020). However, other studies have found no significant relationship between youth STBs and inhibitory control as measured by the GoStop Impulsivity Paradigm (Mathias et al., 2011), Stop-Signal Reaction Time task (Millner, 2015), and Go/No Go task (Millner, 2015; Pan et al., 2011). Future research investigating inhibitory control measured by multiple behavioral tasks is needed to clarify mixed findings.

Taken together, results of prior research suggest that deficits in emotion regulation are associated with youth STBs, while findings are mixed regarding the relationship between youth suicidality and emotion reactivity, lower resting RSA, RSA reactivity to challenge, and inhibitory control. There are several limitations of the current literature. First, though previous studies have demonstrated the associations between youth suicidality and self-regulatory variables, few studies have conceptualized suicide as reflective of dysfunction in multiple aspects of self-regulation.

Second, since most findings come from cross-sectional studies, there is a relative lack of longitudinal data on the relationship between youth suicidality and self-regulation. Third, from the few longitudinal studies in the current literature (e.g., Brausch & Woods, 2019; Giletta et al., 2017), little is known about the prediction of youth suicidality from self-regulation in early and middle childhood.

Life Stress and Youth Suicidality

Beyond self-regulation, life stress is another broad construct that is commonly associated with psychopathology. Specifically, exposure to early life stress, commonly conceptualized as adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), is related to an increased risk of psychopathology in adolescence and adulthood. Early life stress includes a range of adverse experiences occurring in childhood, including exposure to violence, abuse, neglect, or family dysfunction (e.g., parental substance abuse, mental health problems, and/or incarceration). Such early life stressors have been linked to later psychopathology symptoms, including depression, bipolar disorder, posttraumatic stress disorder, substance use disorder, schizophrenia, antisocial personality disorder, and borderline personality disorder (Brietzke et al., 2012; DeLisi et al., 2019; Herzog & Schmahl, 2018; Lee et al., 2018; Leza et al., 2021; Merrick et al., 2017; Selous et al., 2020). Concerning suicide research, ACEs have been shown to be strongly related to greater odds of SI in adolescence (Ziker & Snopkowski, 2020) and young adulthood (Polanco-Roman et al., 2021) and risk for SA across the lifespan (Dube et al., 2001; Merrick et al., 2017; Stinson et al., 2021).

Moreover, research has shown that there is a strong relationship between early life stress (e.g., ACEs) and the development of self-regulation. Children and adolescents who have experienced early life stress tend to have difficulties regulating their behaviors and emotions, including deficits in inhibitory control (Evans & Kim, 2013; Lackner et al., 2018), emotion

regulation (Rollins et al., 2021; Tottenham et al., 2010), and increased use of maladaptive coping strategies (Hagan et al., 2017). Given the relationship between early life stress and deficits in self-regulation, impairment in self-regulation might be one possible pathway through which early life stress increases the risk of youth suicidality. Alternatively, early life stress and self-regulatory deficits may be correlated risk factors for youth suicidality. More research is needed to understand the unique effects of early life stress and difficulties in multiple aspects of self-regulation to identify which factors are independently predictive of youth suicidality.

There are limitations in the current literature on the relationship between life stress and youth suicidality. First, though evidence has clearly indicated that a relationship exists between life stress and suicidality, the roles of different timing and types of stress in the development of suicidality remain unexplored (Herzog & Schmahl, 2018; Juruena et al., 2021). This problem is relevant for research regarding the associations between life stress and the broader construct of psychopathology as well. Second, there is still much to know about the underlying mechanisms of the relationship between life stress and suicidality, as well as potential unique influences of life stress and self-regulation. Third, consistent with the largely cross-sectional literature on self-regulation, there is a relative lack of longitudinal data on the relationship between early life stress and youth suicidality. Longitudinal studies may both mitigate concerns about recall bias when participants retrospectively report their early experiences and afford the opportunity to investigate prediction from specific types and timing of life stressors on adolescent suicidality outcomes.

The Present Study

The present study used a longitudinal design to examine how multiple self-regulatory variables (i.e., emotion regulation, emotion reactivity, parasympathetic nervous system regulation, and inhibitory control) and life stress across different developmental stages confer risk for SI in

adolescents. There are several strengths of the present study. First, this study took a developmental psychopathology perspective, aiming to identify developmental antecedents of SI in adolescence, using data from early childhood, middle childhood, and adolescent research assessments. Second, this study aimed to examine multiple risk factors for SI in adolescents simultaneously, with the goal of increasing the predictive ability of youth suicidality using self-regulatory and life stress variables across early childhood to adolescence. Third, by studying life stress variables across different developmental periods, we hoped to examine the effect of the timing of life stress on adolescent SI and to compare prediction from different periods of life stress. Given the current state of knowledge, we hypothesized that deficits in self-regulation during middle childhood (i.e., worse emotion regulation, lower resting RSA, altered RSA reactivity to challenge, and worse inhibitory control) and early adolescence (i.e., greater emotion reactivity) as well as greater life stress during early and middle childhood would predict higher lifetime SI reported in adolescence.

Method

Participants and Procedures

Participants were adolescents (N = 177; 46.3% female) enrolled in a longitudinal study on the efficacy of an attachment-based parenting intervention in infancy. Participants in the risk group (N = 119) were originally recruited by referral from Child Protective Services (CPS) due to high risk for maltreatment when they were infants and were randomized to receive one of two parenting interventions. Participants in the comparison group (N = 58) were recruited from local community centers at the time of the middle childhood follow-up (age eight years). Comparison participants had no history of CPS involvement and did not participate in any parenting intervention.

Self-regulatory data were collected during laboratory assessments attended by parent-child

dyads during middle childhood (ages eight to 10) and early adolescence (ages 13 to 15). Life stress data were collected during middle childhood and supplemented with data from early childhood when available. Questionnaire and interview data were acquired by telephone or Zoom if in-person data collection was not feasible (e.g., because the family had moved out of state and/or due to a temporary suspension of in-person research during the COVID-19 pandemic). All procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Delaware and families received an honorarium for their participation.

Participant demographics were reported by their parents during early adolescent laboratory visits and are presented in Table 1. The sample was racially diverse, with most participants being African American (58.8%) or multiracial (16.9%).

Measures

Self-Regulation

Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC; Shields & Cicchetti, 1997). The ERC is a 24item parent-report measure that assesses children's ability to cope with their emotions. Parents
rated their children's emotion regulation ability on a four-point Likert scale (1 = never, 2 =
sometimes, 3 = often, 4 = almost always). This measure includes two subscales: Emotion
Regulation (ER) and Lability/Negativity (L/N). The ER subscale assesses situational
appropriateness of emotion expressions, empathy, and emotional self-awareness, with higher
scores indicating better adaptive emotion regulation. This subscale contains eight items, such as,
"Responds positively to neutral or friendly approaches by peers." The L/N subscale assesses
emotional lability, lack of flexibility, and dysregulated negative emotions, with higher scores
indicating greater emotion dysregulation. This subscale contains 15 items, such as, "Is prone to

angry outbursts/tantrums easily." The scores of both subscales are obtained by averaging all relevant scores, after reverse-coding negatively-worded items. Parents completed the ERC during laboratory visits when their children were ages eight, nine, and 10. The overall scores for middle childhood ERC ER and ERC L/N were obtained by averaging the relevant scores across three timepoints.

Emotion Reactivity Scale (ERS; Nock et al., 2008). At age 13, participants completed the ERS, a 21-item self-report measure that includes emotion sensitivity, intensity, and persistence subscales. Adolescents rated their experience of emotion reactivity on a five-point Likert scale (0 = not at all like me to 4 = completely like me). The sensitivity subscale contains 10 items, such as, "Even the littlest things make me emotional." The intensity subscale contains seven items, such as, "People tell me that my emotions are often too intense for the situation." The persistence subscale contains four items, such as, "When I feel emotional, it's hard for me to imagine feeling any other way." The scores for all the subscales are calculated by adding the scores for all the relevant items. A total emotion reactivity score is obtained by adding the scores of all the subscales, with higher scores indicating greater emotion reactivity.

Parasympathetic Nervous System Data Collection and Cleaning. During in-person laboratory assessments when children were age nine, children participated in a baseline task and an impossible task that was used to elicit feelings of frustration in the child. Children's heart rate (electrocardiogram) data were collected using disposable electrodes and wireless mobile devices throughout the task period. During the baseline task, the child viewed a nature image accompanied by nature sounds for two minutes. This task was designed to obtain children's heart rate data at rest and provide a baseline measure of their parasympathetic nervous system regulation. During the frustration task, the child was asked to complete perfect mazes. The

researcher first presented the child with a series of paper mazes one at a time and instructed them to complete each one perfectly. After the child finished each maze, the researcher provided neutral critiques to it, such as, "That one is too crooked. Try another one." This process lasted for three and a half minutes. Then the researcher left the room, leaving the child in the room with a stack of mazes to complete while alone. After one minute, another researcher entered the room and conducted a one-minute interview with the child about their emotional responses to the task. The child was required to continue working towards completing the perfect maze throughout the task period and remained under task demands until the completion of the interview. The first researcher then returned to the room, asked the child to complete a final maze, and then praised the child. About one-third of the children completed perfect circles (Goldsmith et al., 1999) instead of perfect mazes. The change was made due to children's recall of the perfect mazes task administered at a previous lab visit. The frustration task was designed to induce children's negative emotions and used to collect data on children's parasympathetic nervous system regulation in challenging situations.

Children's heart rate data were recorded and cleaned using software and equipment provided by the James Long Company. The software algorithm detected R-waves (i.e., the electrical activity of the heart captured by an electrocardiogram), marked questionable interbeat intervals for visual inspection and correction, and computed RSA for each participant. All misidentified R-waves were manually corrected. Consistent with prior work measuring heart rate in children (Woody et al., 2016), segments of children's heart rate data were excluded from analyses if at least 10% of the R-waves were manually corrected. Average RSA values for baseline and distress tasks were calculated using cleaned heart rate data.

Measures of Inhibitory Control. We used both the Flanker task and the Stop Signal

Reaction Time (SSRT) task as our measures of children's inhibitory control.

Flanker Task. At ages eight and 10, children completed a computerized Flanker task (Eriksen & Eriksen, 1974), which was programmed and administered using Presentation software (Neurobehavioral Systems, Inc.). Participants sat in front of a computer monitor on which trials of five arrows were serially presented. Half of the trials were congruent trials, in which all arrows pointed the same direction (e.g., >>>>). The other half of the trials were incongruent trials, in which the middle arrow pointed the opposite direction of the other arrows (e.g., >><>). Children were asked to place their fingers on a two-button box and to respond by pressing the button corresponding to the direction of the middle arrow. The response deadline was 800 ms and an inter-trial interval of 900-1100 ms was used. The researchers instructed the children to emphasize accuracy over speed but encouraged them to respond more quickly if they repeatedly responded after the response deadline.

After researchers oriented children to the task using printed versions of arrow trials, children completed a practice block with corrective feedback. After a second practice block without feedback, children progressed to experimental trials or repeated additional practice blocks as needed until the researchers were confident that the children understood the task. Most children in our study proceeded to the experimental blocks without requiring additional practice. Children completed six sets of 50-trial blocks with short breaks between each set. The task took an average of 30 minutes to complete. The percentage of accurate responses and reaction time (RT) in milliseconds were recorded. Children who performed at chance levels (i.e., achieved less than 60% accuracy) were excluded from analyses. The Flanker RT interference score was calculated by subtracting the mean RT for congruent trials from the mean RT for incongruent trials. The Flanker accuracy interference score was calculated by subtracting the mean accuracy

for congruent trials from the mean accuracy for incongruent trials. Because accuracy and reaction time scores were positively correlated ($r_s = -.29$, p < .001), we calculated a composite Flanker score by averaging the standardized scores for Flanker RT and Flanker accuracy interference scores. The overall scores for all Flanker variables (i.e., Flanker RT interference score, Flanker accuracy interference score, and Flanker composite score) were averaged across scores at two timepoints, with lower scores indicating better performance.

SSRT Task. At ages eight and 10, children also completed the SSRT task (Logan & Cowan, 1984), which was again delivered using Presentation software (Neurobehavioral Systems, Inc.). They sat in front of a computer screen and a two-button box. Trials began with a blank screen. About two-thirds of the trials were "go trials," in which a green arrow (i.e., the go signal) pointing either right or left appeared on the screen. Children were asked to respond by pressing the button corresponding to the direction of the arrow. About one-third of the trials were "stop trials," in which a red circle superimposed on the green arrow (i.e., the stop signal) appeared after the go signal. Children were asked to stop responding upon seeing the stop signal. Children were encouraged to respond as quickly and accurately as possible when they saw the go signal and not to wait for the stop signal to appear. The stop signal delay (SSD) between the go and stop signal was initially 200 ms and increased or decreased by 50 ms after each successful or unsuccessful stop trial, respectively. The inter-trial interval was set at 2000 ms, and the trial order was completely randomized.

After the researchers explained the SSRT task to the children, the children completed two 50-trial practice blocks. The researchers offered feedback on children's performance during the first practice block and refrained from any feedback during the second practice block while observing children's behaviors to confirm that they were not deliberately waiting for stop signals

to appear. Additional practice was administered until the children gained understanding of the rules. Children completed four 60-trial experimental blocks after researchers left the room. The SSRT task lasted for an average of 30 minutes.

The integration method described by Verbruggen and colleagues (2019) was used to calculate an overall score for SSRT performance. The percentage of successful stop trials (SST) and the average SSD were calculated for each child across all four experimental blocks. The SSRT score for each child was calculated by subtracting the average SSD from the RT separating unsuccessful and successful stop trials (see Verbruggen et al. [2019] for detailed instructions). Children's data were excluded from analyses if their performance did not meet any of the following criteria: (1) at least 30% SST, (2) less than 25% go omissions (i.e., go trials without a response before the response deadline), (3) less than 25% incorrect go trials (i.e., go trials with incorrect button presses), and (4) length of the average unsuccessful stop trial shorter than that of the average successful stop trial. The overall SSRT score for each child was averaged across two timepoints, with lower scores indicating better inhibitory control.

Life Stress

During laboratory visits when children were ages eight, nine, and 10, their parents were interviewed with the Life Event Calendar that asked about children's stressful life events since birth (at age eight) or the last visit (at ages nine and 10). In line with the cumulative risk model in the current literature (Evans et al., 2013; Jensen et al., 2015), we developed a cumulative life stress score for the purpose of this study. Our life stress score included a primary caregiver risk index and a family instability risk index. The primary caregiver risk index contained four items: primary caregiver's mental health problem, criminal justice involvement, substance use, and single parenthood. The family instability risk index contained eight items: residential instability,

relationship instability, homelessness, separations from primary caregiver or changes in caregiver, CPS involvement, removal of other children from home, violence or abuse in the family, and deaths of close family members. The criteria indicating risk for each item are shown in Appendix A.

All the items were scored as zero (absence of risk) or one (presence of risk) so that they contributed the same weight to the overall cumulative risk. We scored cumulative risk index items for children's early childhood (birth to 48 months) and middle childhood (five to 10 years) and tallied all items for each developmental period to obtain two life stress scores: an early childhood life stress score and a middle childhood life stress score, with higher scores indicating more life stressors (i.e., greater levels of cumulative risk).

Suicidality Outcomes

Columbia-Suicide Severity Rating Scale (C-SSRS; Posner et al., 2011). At ages 13, 14, and 15, participants completed the C-SSRS, a validated, semi-structured interview designed to assess the severity of suicidal ideation and behavior. Adolescent SI intensity was scored using the maximum category endorsed for lifetime SI at ages 13-15 (0 = no SI, 1 = wish to be dead, 2 = non-specific active SI, 3 = active SI with any methods [no plan] without intent to act, 4 = active SI with some intent to act, without specific plan, 5 = active SI with specific plan and intent). A dichotomous SI score (i.e., rates of SI) was also constructed based on whether any lifetime SI was endorsed at ages 13-15. A dichotomous SA score was constructed based on endorsement of any lifetime SA.

Demographic Covariates

Parent-reported child sex and socioeconomic status (SES) from the early adolescent assessment were included as potentially relevant demographic covariates. We calculated a

composite SES score by averaging the standardized scores for family income and parental education, as reported by parents at the early adolescent assessment.

Data Analytic Plan

Descriptive analyses were conducted for all focal variables, including sociodemographics, self-regulation, life stress, and suicidality. A one-way ANOVA was conducted to examine whether SI intensity varied between different racial/ethnic groups. Independent samples t-tests were conducted to compare means of SI intensity between groups for binary demographic predictors including sex, risk group, and a dichotomous variable indicating whether the family received temporary assistance for needy families (TANF).

To test the primary study hypotheses, we conducted Spearman's correlation analyses among SI intensity and continuous predictor variables, including ERC (both Emotion Regulation and Lability/Negativity subscales), ERS, resting RSA, RSA reactivity to challenge, inhibitory control (as measured using a Flanker task and the SSRT), early childhood life stress, middle childhood life stress, and socioeconomic status. Significant findings using SI intensity were followed up with test(s) of dichotomous variable(s) to ensure that the results were not driven by outliers in maximum SI intensity.

Finally, we planned to conduct a multiple linear regression including all significant predictors of SI intensity at the bivariate level and controlling for sex as the most common demographic characteristic distinguishing suicidal ideators from non-ideators in adolescence (Cha et al., 2018). Exploratory follow-up analyses were planned to assess mediation of the effects of life stress through self-regulatory variables, if appropriate, and to test contributions of specific types of life stress (caregiver-level versus family instability) if overall stress indices were significant.

Results

Descriptive results for variables of self-regulation, life stress, and suicidality are displayed in Table 2. Concerning suicidality outcomes, 23.2% of participants (N = 41) reported experiencing any lifetime SI (M = 0.53, SD = 1.14), and 5.6% reported at least one lifetime SA (N = 10). There was no significant difference in SI intensity between different racial/ethnic groups as demonstrated by a non-significant one-way ANOVA, F(3, 171) = .61, p = .613. Independent samples t-tests revealed no significant differences in SI intensity based on participant sex (p = .25), risk group (p = .37), or receipt of TANF (p = .29).

Spearman's correlation analyses were conducted to examine the associations between SI intensity and predictor variables (i.e., socio-demographics, self-regulation, and life stress). Results of correlation analyses are shown in Table 3. Lifetime SI intensity measured in adolescence was positively correlated with age 13 emotion reactivity, $r_s = .34$, p < .001, but was not significantly related to other candidate predictors, including self-regulation during middle childhood or life stress.

Life stress during both early and middle childhood predicted worse parent-reported emotion regulation (early $r_s = -.26$, p < .001; middle $r_s = -.24$, p = .002) and more parent-reported lability/negativity (both $r_s = .34$, $p_s < .001$) on the ERC during middle childhood. Similarly, early and middle childhood life stress each predicted worse inhibitory control as measured during middle childhood using the SSRT (early $r_s = .22$, p = .009; middle $r_s = .17$, p = .042).

To ensure that significant associations between emotion reactivity and suicidality were not driven by outliers in maximum SI intensity, we conducted an independent samples t-test to examine differences in age 13 ERS between groups based on presence or absence of lifetime SI in adolescence. Consistent with correlational findings, participants who endorsed any lifetime SI reported higher emotion reactivity (M = 42.95, SD = 20.24) than participants who denied any lifetime SI (M = 27.48, SD = 17.40), t(152) = -4.60, p < .001. An exploratory follow-up analysis showed that SI intensity was positively correlated with all three subscales of emotion reactivity, including emotion sensitivity, $r_s = .28$, p < .001, arousal/intensity, $r_s = .35$, p < .001, and persistence, $r_s = .32$, p < .001.

A multiple linear regression was used to test whether ERS uniquely predicted lifetime SI intensity controlling for participant sex (see Table 4). The results of the regression indicated the two predictors explained 15.3% of the variance, F(2, 151) = 13.62, p < .001, $R^2 = .153$. ERS significantly predicted SI intensity, $\beta = .38$, t(151) = 4.99, p < .001. Sex did not significantly predict SI intensity, $\beta = .03$, t(151) = 0.40, p = .690.

Because life stress variables were not significantly associated with emotion reactivity or SI intensity, exploratory analyses investigating possible mediation and/or specific contributions of different types of life stress were not conducted.

Discussion

This study took a developmental psychopathology approach to investigate the prediction of lifetime SI among adolescents from life stress and multiple aspects of self-regulation across early childhood to early adolescence, taking relevant socio-demographics into account.

Specifically, we examined life stress during early and middle childhood, middle childhood self-regulation (i.e., emotion regulation, inhibitory control, parasympathetic nervous system regulation), and early adolescent self-regulation (i.e., emotion reactivity) as predictors of

adolescent SI.

Correlation analyses revealed a significant relationship between adolescent SI (ages 13-15) and concurrent emotion reactivity (age 13). This finding was further corroborated by a multiple linear regression controlling for participant sex, which indicated that emotion reactivity uniquely predicted lifetime SI in adolescence. Further, follow-up analyses showed that all three subscales of ERS were positively correlated with adolescent SI. Overall, our results suggested that adolescents who experience emotions to a broader range of stimuli, with greater intensity, and for a more extended period of time before returning to the usual level of arousal are more likely to have thoughts of suicide. Given the mixed findings of the relationship between emotion reactivity and youth suicidality in the current literature, our study helped clarify the role of emotion reactivity in conferring risk for suicidal ideation (Liu et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2021).

Inconsistent with previous findings suggesting that youth suicidality is associated with lower adaptive emotion regulation (Barr et al., 2017; Ong & Thompson, 2019) and/or more emotion dysregulation (Hatkevich et al., 2019, Brausch et al., 2022; Brausch & Woods, etc.), our study found no significant relationship between adolescent SI and adaptive emotion regulation (as measured by the ER subscale of ERC) or emotion dysregulation (as measured by the L/N subscale of ERC). There are two possible explanations for our finding. First, research examining emotion regulation and dysregulation relies primarily on self-reported measures (Wolff et al., 2019); this is true of the studies cited above identifying significant links with youth SI. In contrast, our study used a parent-report measure to evaluate children's emotion regulation. Parents may not always accurately report their children's emotion regulation abilities due to limited awareness or misinterpretation of their children's emotion expressions. Second, we measured children's parent-reported emotion regulation when they were aged eight to 10 and

their SI when they were aged 13-15. However, in studies documenting a significant relationship between emotion regulation and youth suicidality, both constructs were measured at the same time point. Because children's emotion regulation skills evolve over time, it is plausible that deficits in emotion regulation increase risk for youth suicidality concurrently but not prospectively.

Previous research has established a relationship between parasympathetic nervous system regulation and youth suicidality. However, our study found no relationship between parasympathetic nervous system regulation (either resting RSA or RSA reactivity to challenge) and SI intensity in adolescence. Regarding resting RSA, prior research has provided evidence for lower resting RSA among parasuicidal adolescents than non-parasuicidal controls (Crowell et al., 2005). This inconsistency between our findings and prior research may be due to several factors. First, Crowell et al. (2005) assessed adolescent parasuicidal behaviors, which included self-injurious behaviors with unknown suicide intent, whereas our study examined adolescent SI. This difference in the types of suicidality outcomes may be related to the inconsistency of results between the two studies. Second, we measured participants' parasympathetic nervous system regulation during middle childhood (age nine) as a distal predictor of adolescent SI. Considering that Crowell et al. (2005) assessed both predictor and outcome variables in adolescents, this inconsistency suggests that resting RSA might predict youth suicidality only in the short term.

Regarding RSA reactivity to challenge, prior findings are mixed, with studies showing either stable RSA or greater RSA decreases in response to challenge among suicidal versus non-suicidal youth. The discrepancy between our null findings and current literature may reflect differences in sample characteristics. Our study focused on a predominantly maltreatment-involved sample of adolescents. By contrast, other studies recruited participants based on

different criteria, such as a history of depression and STBs (Yang et al., 2019) and exhibiting parasuicidal behaviors (Crowell et al., 2005). Moreover, differences in study results may be attributed to the developmental period during which RSA data was collected. While our study collected RSA data from nine-year-olds, other studies have focused on RSA in adolescents. Nevertheless, it is important to note that limited research exists concerning the relationship between parasympathetic nervous system regulation and youth suicidality. Therefore, more work needs to be done to fully understand the extent of this relationship.

The non-significant finding regarding the relationship between inhibitory control and youth suicidality was unsurprising considering the inconclusive results in the current literature. One possible explanation is that the behavioral tasks used to measure inhibitory control in present study did not include negatively valenced affective materials that are typically associated with SI and suicidal decision-making (Cha et al., 2018; Millner, 2015). Moreover, in studies that find a significant relationship between inhibitory control and suicidality, researchers have focused more on suicide attempters than ideators (Wojnar et al., 2009; Swann et al., 2005; Dougherty et al., 2004). It may be that impulsive action (as measured by behavioral inhibitory control tasks) increases the likelihood of attempting suicide rather than having thoughts of suicide.

Early life stress (whether occurring in early or middle childhood) also did not significantly predict adolescent SI in our study. These results were surprising given the prior evidence indicating a graded association between cumulative life stressors and the severity of SI or SA in adolescence and adulthood (Enns et al., 2006; Johnson et al., 2002). Several factors may contribute to our findings. First, a majority of our sample (76.8%) did not report any lifetime SI, and among those who did, most had SI of low intensity. This low variability of SI data may have

contributed to the non-significant finding regarding the relationship between early life stress and adolescent SI. Second, data on early childhood life stress were collected at middle childhood laboratory assessments. Parents may be subject to recall bias and report fewer early childhood life stressors than there were, resulting in decreased variability of life stress data. Third, the significant relationship between early life stress and suicidality identified in prior studies may be partially explained by other factors associated with early life stress, such as higher prevalence of psychological disorders, that may not apply to the current sample (Enns et al., 2006). However, compared to abundant research in adults, few studies have examined early life stressors as predictors of suicidal outcomes in adolescents. More research is needed to clarify the relationship between early life stress and adolescent suicidality.

Although not related to youth SI, early life stress significantly predicted worse self-regulatory functioning in middle childhood including emotion regulation and inhibitory control. Impaired emotion regulation in childhood has been consistently linked with negative outcomes in social functioning and psychopathology during adolescence and adulthood (Robson et al., 2020; Zeman et al., 2006). Moreover, worse inhibitory control in childhood has been associated with higher externalizing and internalizing behaviors (Eisenberg et al., 2009; Rhoades et al., 2009), which increase the risk for psychopathology in adolescence and adulthood, including depression, anxiety disorders, substance use disorders, and suicide attempts (Campbell, 2006; Keiley et al., 2000; Taylor & Barch, 2022). Our findings provide preliminary evidence for the possible downstream effects of early life stress on other mental health-related outcomes, or on youth suicidality in samples with higher occurrences of STBs.

By integrating the developmental psychopathology perspective into research on youth suicidality (Oppenheimer et al., 2022), this study has important clinical implications for the

prevention and intervention of youth STBs. First, our study highlights the importance of recognizing elevated emotion reactivity as a marker of risk for adolescent suicidality, in order to initiate prevention and early intervention aimed at minimizing adolescent SI. Therapeutic interventions targeting emotion reactivity in early adolescence may be promising in reducing the severity of youth SI and the overall rates of youth STBs. Second, our study offers evidence for the effects of early life stress on self-regulatory functioning during middle childhood. Given that self-regulation deficits are associated with negative psychological and behavioral outcomes, our study suggests that one potential way to mitigate the effects of early life stress is by enhancing self-regulation in affected children.

This study displayed multiple strengths. First, our sample was racially/ethnically diverse with most identified as members of traditionally marginalized groups (58.8% African American; 16.9% multiracial). This enhances the generalizability of our findings to communities that are historically underrepresented in psychological research. Second, we utilized a multi-method assessment of self-regulation, incorporating parent-report measures, objective physiological and behavioral assessments, and self-report questionnaires. Third, this study implemented a longitudinal design to examine the prediction of self-regulation and early life stress from early childhood, middle childhood, and early adolescence to adolescent suicidality outcomes. This design enabled us to draw inferences about the relationship of predictor and outcome variables over a fairly long period of time.

There are several limitations of the current study. First, the sample was not representative of the general population of suicidal adolescents because most of our participants were initially recruited for indication of maltreatment-related risk in infancy. Additionally, our sample exhibited low levels of suicidality, which made it difficult to determine whether non-significant

results reflected an absence of associations between predictor and outcome variables or were due to insufficient variance in suicidality outcomes. Second, we developed the cumulative life stress score and the rubric for scoring each item for the purpose of this study. Although our approach was based on prior research (Sameroff et al., 1998; Obradović et al., 2012), this measure has not been previously validated against other assessments of early life stress. Third, since each aspect of self-regulation was assessed in a certain age range (e.g., parasympathetic regulation only at age nine and emotion reactivity only at age 13), we were unable to distinguish whether null associations with youth SI were driven by relevance of the construct, developmental timing of the assessment, or both.

The limitations of the current study highlight areas for future research. First, a sample with more variability of suicidality data may help clarify and better probe the associations between self-regulation, life stress, and youth suicidality. Second, it is crucial to validate our cumulative life stress score in future studies to enable more robust statistical analyses of the associations between early life stress and other psychological constructs. Third, future research should examine multiple aspects of self-regulation across the developmental periods of interest to examine more comprehensive associations between self-regulation and youth suicidality from a developmental perspective. Moreover, future studies are needed to clarify the relationship between early life stress and youth psychopathology, including STBs, and to identify potential mediators of any statistically significant associations.

Overall, findings indicate that heightened emotion reactivity in early adolescence predicts greater SI intensity among adolescents. Results also suggest that early life stress is associated with deficits in emotion regulation and inhibitory control in middle childhood, which has been associated with increased risk for psychopathology in adolescence and adulthood. Therefore,

targeting emotion reactivity may benefit the development of prevention and intervention strategies for reducing youth STBs.

References

- Babcock, A., Moussa, R. K., & Diaby, V. (2022). Effects, trends, costs associated with readmission in early-aged patients with suicidal ideation. *Expert review of pharmacoeconomics & outcomes research*, 22(2), 247–258. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737167.2021.1914593
- Barr, N., Fulginiti, A., Rhoades, H., & Rice, E. (2017). Can Better Emotion Regulation Protect against Suicidality in Traumatized Homeless Youth? *Archives of suicide research: official journal of the International Academy for Suicide Research*, 21(3), 490–501. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2016.1224989
- Beauchaine T. (2001). Vagal tone, development, and Gray's motivational theory: toward an integrated model of autonomic nervous system functioning in psychopathology.

 Development and psychopathology, 13(2), 183–214.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579401002012
- Beauchaine T. P. (2015). Respiratory Sinus Arrhythmia: A Transdiagnostic Biomarker of Emotion

 Dysregulation and Psychopathology. *Current opinion in psychology*, *3*, 43–47.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.01.017
- Beauchaine, T. P., & Thayer, J. F. (2015). Heart rate variability as a transdiagnostic biomarker of psychopathology. *International journal of psychophysiology: official journal of the International Organization of Psychophysiology*, 98(2 Pt 2), 338–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2015.08.004
- Brausch, A. M., & Woods, S. E. (2019). Emotion Regulation Deficits and Nonsuicidal Self-Injury Prospectively Predict Suicide Ideation in Adolescents. *Suicide & life-threatening behavior*,

- 49(3), 868–880. https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12478
- Brausch, A. M., Clapham, R. B., & Littlefield, A. K. (2022). Identifying Specific Emotion Regulation Deficits that Associate with Nonsuicidal Self-injury and Suicide Ideation in Adolescents. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, 51(3), 556–569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-021-01525-w
- Brietzke, E., Kauer Sant'anna, M., Jackowski, A., Grassi-Oliveira, R., Bucker, J., Zugman, A., Mansur, R. B., & Bressan, R. A. (2012). Impact of childhood stress on psychopathology. *Revista brasileira de psiquiatria (Sao Paulo, Brazil : 1999)*, 34(4), 480–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbp.2012.04.009
- Brodbeck, J., Bötschi, S. I. R., Vetsch, N., Berger, T., Schmidt, S. J., & Marmet, S. (2022). Investigating emotion regulation and social information processing as mechanisms linking adverse childhood experiences with psychosocial functioning in young swiss adults: the FACE epidemiological accelerated cohort study. *BMC psychology*, *10*(1), 99. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-022-00798-5
- Campbell, S. B. (2006). Maladjustment in Preschool Children: A Developmental Psychopathology

 Perspective. In K. McCartney & D. Phillips (Eds.), *Blackwell handbook of early childhood development* (pp. 358–377). Blackwell Publishing.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470757703.ch18
- Cerutti, R., Zuffianò, A., & Spensieri, V. (2018). The Role of Difficulty in Identifying and Describing Feelings in Non-Suicidal Self-Injury Behavior (NSSI): Associations With Perceived Attachment Quality, Stressful Life Events, and Suicidal Ideation. *Frontiers in psychology*, 9, 318. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00318

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System* (YRBSS): 2017 YRBS results and data available now. Last viewed February 28, 2023.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System (YRBSS):*2019 YRBS results and data available now. Last viewed February 28, 2023.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Web-based injury statistics query and reporting system (WISOARS)*. Available from: https://wisgars.cdc.gov/data/lcd

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System* (YRBSS): 2021 YRBS results and data available now. Last viewed February 28, 2023.

- Cha, C. B., Franz, P. J., M Guzmán, E., Glenn, C. R., Kleiman, E. M., & Nock, M. K. (2018).

 Annual Research Review: Suicide among youth epidemiology, (potential) etiology, and treatment. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines*, 59(4), 460–482. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12831
- Cicchetti, D., & Rogosch, F. A. (2002). A developmental psychopathology perspective on adolescence. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 70(1), 6–20. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.70.1.6
- Crowell, S. E., Beauchaine, T. P., McCauley, E., Smith, C. J., Stevens, A. L., & Sylvers, P. (2005).

 Psychological, autonomic, and serotonergic correlates of parasuicide among adolescent girls. *Development and psychopathology*, 17(4), 1105–1127. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579405050522
- de Beurs, D., Bockting, C., Kerkhof, A., Scheepers, F., O'Connor, R., Penninx, B., & van de Leemput, I. (2021). A network perspective on suicidal behavior: Understanding suicidality

- as a complex system. *Suicide & life-threatening behavior*, *51*(1), 115–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12676
- DeLisi, M., Drury, A. J., & Elbert, M. J. (2019). The etiology of antisocial personality disorder:

 The differential roles of adverse childhood experiences and childhood psychopathology.

 *Comprehensive psychiatry, 92, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2019.04.001
- Dougherty, D. M., Mathias, C. W., Marsh, D. M., Papageorgiou, T. D., Swann, A. C., & Moeller, F. G. (2004). Laboratory measured behavioral impulsivity relates to suicide attempt history.

 Suicide & life-threatening behavior, 34(4), 374–385.

 https://doi.org/10.1521/suli.34.4.374.53738
- Dube, S. R., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Chapman, D. P., Williamson, D. F., & Giles, W. H. (2001). Childhood abuse, household dysfunction, and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span: findings from the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. *JAMA*, 286(24), 3089–3096. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.286.24.3089
- Eaddy, M., Zullo, L., Horton, S. E., Hughes, J. L., Kennard, B., Diederich, A., Emslie, G. J., Schuster, L., & Stewart, S. M. (2019). A Theory-Driven Investigation of the Association Between Emotion Dysregulation and Suicide Risk in a Clinical Adolescent Sample.
 Suicide & life-threatening behavior, 49(4), 928–940. https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12472
- Eisenberg, N., Valiente, C., Spinrad, T. L., Liew, J., Zhou, Q., Losoya, S. H., Reiser, M., & Cumberland, A. (2009). Longitudinal relations of children's effortful control, impulsivity, and negative emotionality to their externalizing, internalizing, and co-occurring behavior problems. *Developmental psychology*, 45(4), 988–1008. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016213

- Enns, M. W., Cox, B. J., Afifi, T. O., De Graaf, R., Ten Have, M., & Sareen, J. (2006). Childhood adversities and risk for suicidal ideation and attempts: a longitudinal population-based study. *Psychological medicine*, *36*(12), 1769–1778. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291706008646
- Eriksen, B. A., & Eriksen, C. W. (1974). Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task. *Perception & Psychophysics*, 16(1), 143–149. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03203267
- Evans, G. W., & Kim, P. (2013). Childhood poverty, chronic stress, self-regulation, and coping. *Child Development Perspectives*, 7(1), 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12013
- Evans, G. W., Li, D., & Whipple, S. S. (2013). Cumulative risk and child development. *Psychological bulletin*, 139(6), 1342–1396. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031808
- Evans, S. C., Blossom, J. B., Canter, K. S., Poppert-Cordts, K., Kanine, R., Garcia, A., & Roberts, M. C. (2016). Self-Reported Emotion Reactivity Among Early-Adolescent Girls: Evidence for Convergent and Discriminant Validity in an Urban Community Sample. *Behavior therapy*, 47(3), 299–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2016.01.003
- Franklin, J. C., Ribeiro, J. D., Fox, K. R., Bentley, K. H., Kleiman, E. M., Huang, X., Musacchio, K. M., Jaroszewski, A. C., Chang, B. P., & Nock, M. K. (2017). Risk factors for suicidal thoughts and behaviors: A meta-analysis of 50 years of research. *Psychological bulletin*, 143(2), 187–232. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000084
- Franklin, J. C., Ribeiro, J. D., Fox, K. R., Bentley, K. H., Kleiman, E. M., Huang, X., Musacchio, K. M., Jaroszewski, A. C., Chang, B. P., & Nock, M. K. (2017). Risk factors for suicidal

- thoughts and behaviors: A meta-analysis of 50 years of research. *Psychological bulletin*, 143(2), 187–232. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000084
- Giletta, M., Hastings, P. D., Rudolph, K. D., Bauer, D. J., Nock, M. K., & Prinstein, M. J. (2017). Suicide ideation among high-risk adolescent females: Examining the interplay between parasympathetic regulation and friendship support. *Development and psychopathology*, 29(4), 1161–1175. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579416001218
- Glenn, C. R., Lanzillo, E. C., Esposito, E. C., Santee, A. C., Nock, M. K., & Auerbach, R. P. (2017). Examining the Course of Suicidal and Nonsuicidal Self-Injurious Thoughts and Behaviors in Outpatient and Inpatient Adolescents. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 45(5), 971–983. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-016-0214-0
- Goldsmith, H. H., Reilly, J., Lemery, K. S., Longley, S., & Prescott, A. (1999). *The laboratory temperament assessment battery: Preschool version*. University of Wisconsin. http://www.uta.edu/faculty/jgagne/labtab/desc_loco_Lab-TAB.html
- Graziano, P., & Derefinko, K. (2013). Cardiac vagal control and children's adaptive functioning:

 a meta-analysis. *Biological psychology*, 94(1), 22–37.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2013.04.011
- Hagan, M. J., Bush, N., Mendes, W. B., Arenander, J., Epel, E., & Puterman, E. (2017).
 Associations between childhood adversity and daily suppression and avoidance in response to stress in adulthood: can neurobiological sensitivity help explain this relationship?.
 Anxiety, stress, and coping, 30(2), 163–175.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2016.1259473

- Haliczer, L. A., Harnedy, L. E., Oakley, M., & Dixon-Gordon, K. L. (2021). Clarifying the Role of Multiple Self-Damaging Behaviors in the Association Between Emotion Dysregulation and Suicide Risk Among College Students. *The journal of primary prevention*, 42(5), 473–492. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-021-00639-y
- Hastings, P. D., Kahle, S. S., & Han, G. H. P. (2014). Developmental affective psychophysiology:

 Using physiology to inform our understanding of emotional development. In K.H.

 Lagattuta (Ed.) Children and Emotion (pp. 13-28). Karger Publishers.
- Hatkevich, C., Penner, F., & Sharp, C. (2019). Difficulties in emotion regulation and suicide ideation and attempt in adolescent inpatients. *Psychiatry research*, 271, 230–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.11.038
- Herzog, J. I., & Schmahl, C. (2018). Adverse Childhood Experiences and the Consequences on Neurobiological, Psychosocial, and Somatic Conditions Across the Lifespan. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 9, 420. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00420
- Hunt, M., Auriemma, J., & Cashaw, A. C. (2003). Self-report bias and underreporting of depression on the BDI-II. *Journal of personality assessment*, 80(1), 26–30. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327752JPA8001_10
- James, K. M., Woody, M. L., Feurer, C., Kudinova, A. Y., & Gibb, B. E. (2017). Disrupted physiological reactivity among children with a history of suicidal ideation: Moderation by parental expressed emotion-criticism. *Biological psychology*, 130, 22–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2017.10.003
- Jensen, S. K., Dickie, E. W., Schwartz, D. H., Evans, C. J., Dumontheil, I., Paus, T., & Barker, E.

- D. (2015). Effect of Early Adversity and Childhood Internalizing Symptoms on Brain Structure in Young Men. *JAMA pediatrics*, 169(10), 938–946. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.1486
- Johnson, J. G., Cohen, P., Gould, M. S., Kasen, S., Brown, J., & Brook, J. S. (2002). Childhood adversities, interpersonal difficulties, and risk for suicide attempts during late adolescence and early adulthood. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 59(8), 741–749. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.59.8.741
- Juruena, M. F., Gadelrab, R., Cleare, A. J., & Young, A. H. (2021). Epigenetics: A missing link between early life stress and depression. *Progress in neuro-psychopharmacology* & *biological psychiatry*, 109, 110231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2020.110231
- Kandsperger, S., Jarvers, I., Ecker, A., Schleicher, D., Madurkay, J., Otto, A., & Brunner, R. (2021). Emotional Reactivity and Family-Related Factors Associated With Self-Injurious Behavior in Adolescents Presenting to a Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Emergency Service. Frontiers in psychiatry, 12, 634346. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.634346
- Kaufman, E. A., Crowell, S. E., Coleman, J., Puzia, M. E., Gray, D. D., & Strayer, D. L. (2018).
 Electroencephalographic and cardiovascular markers of vulnerability within families of suicidal adolescents: A pilot study. *Biological psychology*, 136, 46–56.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2018.05.007
- Keiley, M. K., Bates, J. E., Dodge, K. A., & Pettit, G. S. (2000). A cross-domain growth analysis: externalizing and internalizing behaviors during 8 years of childhood. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 28(2), 161–179. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1005122814723

- Kosteletos, I., Kollias, K., & Stefanis, N. (2020). *Psychiatrike = Psychiatriki*, 31(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.22365/jpsych.2020.311.23
- Lackner, C. L., Santesso, D. L., Dywan, J., O'Leary, D. D., Wade, T. J., & Segalowitz, S. J. (2018).
 Adverse childhood experiences are associated with self-regulation and the magnitude of the error-related negativity difference. *Biological psychology*, 132, 244–251.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2018.01.006
- Leary, M. R., & Buttermore, N. R. (2003). The Evolution of the Human Self: Tracing the Natural History of Self-Awareness. *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour*, *33*(4), 365–404. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1468-5914.2003.00223.x
- Lee, R. S., Oswald, L. M., & Wand, G. S. (2018). Early Life Stress as a Predictor of Co-Occurring Alcohol Use Disorder and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. *Alcohol research : current reviews*, 39(2), 147–159.
- Leza, L., Siria, S., López-Goñi, J. J., & Fernández-Montalvo, J. (2021). Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and substance use disorder (SUD): A scoping review. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, 221, 108563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108563
- Lin, L., Wang, C., Mo, J., Liu, Y., Liu, T., Jiang, Y., Bai, X., & Wu, X. (2020). Differences in Behavioral Inhibitory Control in Response to Angry and Happy Emotions Among College Students With and Without Suicidal Ideation: An ERP Study. *Frontiers in psychology*, 11, 2191. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.02191
- Liu, S., You, J., Ying, J., Li, X., & Shi, Q. (2020). Emotion reactivity, nonsuicidal self-injury, and regulatory emotional self-efficacy: A moderated mediation model of suicide ideation.

- Journal of affective disorders, 266, 82–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.083
- Logan, G. D., & Cowan, W. B. (1984). On the ability to inhibit thought and action: A theory of an act of control. *Psychological Review*, 91(3), 295–327. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.91.3.295
- Mathias, C. W., Dougherty, D. M., James, L. M., Richard, D. M., Dawes, M. A., Acheson, A., & Hill-Kapturczak, N. (2011). Intolerance to delayed reward in girls with multiple suicide attempts. *Suicide & life-threatening behavior*, 41(3), 277–286. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1943-278X.2011.00027.x
- McHugh, C. M., Chun Lee, R. S., Hermens, D. F., Corderoy, A., Large, M., & Hickie, I. B. (2019). Impulsivity in the self-harm and suicidal behavior of young people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 116, 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.05.012
- Merrick, M. T., Ports, K. A., Ford, D. C., Afifi, T. O., Gershoff, E. T., & Grogan-Kaylor, A. (2017).

 Unpacking the impact of adverse childhood experiences on adult mental health. *Child abuse & neglect*, 69, 10–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.03.016
- Millner, Alexander Joseph. 2015. Clarifying the Pathway to Suicide: An Examination of Subtypes of Suicidal Behavior and Their Association With Impulsiveness.. Doctoral dissertation, Harvard University, Graduate School of Arts & Sciences.
- Nock, M. K., Wedig, M. M., Holmberg, E. B., & Hooley, J. M. (2008). The emotion reactivity scale: development, evaluation, and relation to self-injurious thoughts and behaviors.

 Behavior therapy, 39(2), 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2007.05.005

- Obradović, J., Shaffer, A., & Masten, A. S. (2012). Risk and adversity in developmental psychopathology: Progress and future directions. In L. C. Mayes & M. Lewis (Eds.), *The Cambridge handbook of environment in human development* (pp. 35–57). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139016827.004
- Ong, E., & Thompson, C. (2019). The Importance of Coping and Emotion Regulation in the Occurrence of Suicidal Behavior. *Psychological reports*, 122(4), 1192–1210. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294118781855
- Oppenheimer, C. W., Glenn, C. R., & Miller, A. B. (2022). Future Directions in Suicide and Self-Injury Revisited: Integrating a Developmental Psychopathology Perspective. *Journal of clinical child and adolescent psychology: the official journal for the Society of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology, American Psychological Association, Division 53*, 51(2), 242–260. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2022.2051526
- Pan, L. A., Batezati-Alves, S. C., Almeida, J. R., Segreti, A., Akkal, D., Hassel, S., Lakdawala, S., Brent, D. A., & Phillips, M. L. (2011). Dissociable patterns of neural activity during response inhibition in depressed adolescents with and without suicidal behavior. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50(6), 602–611.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2011.03.018
- Pisani, A. R., Wyman, P. A., Petrova, M., Schmeelk-Cone, K., Goldston, D. B., Xia, Y., & Gould,
 M. S. (2013). Emotion regulation difficulties, youth-adult relationships, and suicide attempts among high school students in underserved communities. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, 42(6), 807–820. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-012-9884-2
- Polanco-Roman, L., Alvarez, K., Corbeil, T., Scorza, P., Wall, M., Gould, M. S., Alegría, M., Bird,

- H., Canino, G. J., & Duarte, C. S. (2021). Association of Childhood Adversities With Suicide Ideation and Attempts in Puerto Rican Young Adults. *JAMA psychiatry*, 78(8), 896–902. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.0480
- Posner, K., Brown, G. K., Stanley, B., Brent, D. A., Yershova, K. V., Oquendo, M. A., Currier, G. W., Melvin, G. A., Greenhill, L., Shen, S., & Mann, J. J. (2011). The Columbia-Suicide Severity Rating Scale: initial validity and internal consistency findings from three multisite studies with adolescents and adults. *The American journal of psychiatry*, 168(12), 1266–1277. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.10111704
- Preece, D. A., Mehta, A., Petrova, K., Sikka, P., Bjureberg, J., Becerra, R., & Gross, J. J. (2023).

 Alexithymia and emotion regulation. *Journal of affective disorders*, 324, 232–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.12.065
- Rhoades, B. L., Greenberg, M. T., & Domitrovich, C. E. (2009). The contribution of inhibitory control to preschoolers' social-emotional competence. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 30(3), 310–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2008.12.012
- Robson, D. A., Allen, M. S., & Howard, S. J. (2020). Self-regulation in childhood as a predictor of future outcomes: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological bulletin*, *146*(4), 324–354. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000227
- Rollins, E. M., & Crandall, A. (2021). Self-Regulation and Shame as Mediators Between Childhood Experiences and Young Adult Health. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *12*, 649911. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.649911
- Rollins, E. M., & Crandall, A. (2021). Self-Regulation and Shame as Mediators Between

- Childhood Experiences and Young Adult Health. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *12*, 649911. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.649911
- Ryan, R. M., Kuhl, J., & Deci, E. L. (1997). Nature and autonomy: an organizational view of social and neurobiological aspects of self-regulation in behavior and development. *Development and psychopathology*, *9*(4), 701–728. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579497001405
- Sameroff, A. J., Bartko, W. T., Baldwin, A., Baldwin, C., & Seifer, R. (1998). Family and social influences on the development of child competence. In M. Lewis & C. Feiring (Eds.), *Families, risk, and competence* (pp. 161–185). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Selous, C., Kelly-Irving, M., Maughan, B., Eyre, O., Rice, F., & Collishaw, S. (2020). Adverse childhood experiences and adult mood problems: evidence from a five-decade prospective birth cohort. *Psychological medicine*, 50(14), 2444–2451. https://doi.org/10.1017/S003329171900271X
- Shields, A., & Cicchetti, D. (1997). Emotion regulation among school-age children: The development and validation of a new criterion Q-sort scale. *Developmental Psychology*, 33(6), 906–916. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.33.6.906
- Soole, R., Kõlves, K., & De Leo, D. (2015). Suicide in Children: A Systematic Review. *Archives* of suicide research: official journal of the International Academy for Suicide Research, 19(3), 285–304. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2014.996694
- Stinson, J. D., Gretak, A. P., Carpenter, R. K., & Quinn, M. A. (2021). Adverse Childhood Experiences and Suicidality and Self-Harm in Persons in Secure Forensic Care. *The journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law*, 49(4), 553–564.

- https://doi.org/10.29158/JAAPL.210007-21
- Strauman T. J. (2017). Self-Regulation and Psychopathology: Toward an Integrative Translational Research Paradigm. *Annual review of clinical psychology*, *13*, 497–523. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045012
- Swann, A. C., Dougherty, D. M., Pazzaglia, P. J., Pham, M., Steinberg, J. L., & Moeller, F. G. (2005). Increased impulsivity associated with severity of suicide attempt history in patients with bipolar disorder. *The American journal of psychiatry*, *162*(9), 1680–1687. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.9.1680
- Taylor, R. L., & Barch, D. M. (2022). Inhibitory control within the context of early life poverty and implications for outcomes. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews*, *140*, 104778. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2022.104778
- Thayer, J. F., & Lane, R. D. (2000). A model of neurovisceral integration in emotion regulation and dysregulation. *Journal of affective disorders*, 61(3), 201–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-0327(00)00338-4
- Thayer, J. F., Ahs, F., Fredrikson, M., Sollers, J. J., 3rd, & Wager, T. D. (2012). A meta-analysis of heart rate variability and neuroimaging studies: implications for heart rate variability as a marker of stress and health. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews*, *36*(2), 747–756. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.11.009
- Tottenham, N., Hare, T. A., Quinn, B. T., McCarry, T. W., Nurse, M., Gilhooly, T., Millner, A., Galvan, A., Davidson, M. C., Eigsti, I. M., Thomas, K. M., Freed, P. J., Booma, E. S., Gunnar, M. R., Altemus, M., Aronson, J., & Casey, B. J. (2010). Prolonged institutional

- rearing is associated with atypically large amygdala volume and difficulties in emotion regulation. *Developmental science*, *13*(1), 46–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00852.x
- Verbruggen, F., Aron, A. R., Band, G. P., Beste, C., Bissett, P. G., Brockett, A. T., Brown, J. W., Chamberlain, S. R., Chambers, C. D., Colonius, H., Colzato, L. S., Corneil, B. D., Coxon, J. P., Dupuis, A., Eagle, D. M., Garavan, H., Greenhouse, I., Heathcote, A., Huster, R. J., Jahfari, S., ... Boehler, C. N. (2019). A consensus guide to capturing the ability to inhibit actions and impulsive behaviors in the stop-signal task. *eLife*, 8, e46323. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.46323
- Wojnar, M., Ilgen, M. A., Czyz, E., Strobbe, S., Klimkiewicz, A., Jakubczyk, A., Glass, J., & Brower, K. J. (2009). Impulsive and non-impulsive suicide attempts in patients treated for alcohol dependence. *Journal of affective disorders*, 115(1-2), 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.09.001
- Wolff, J. C., Thompson, E., Thomas, S. A., Nesi, J., Bettis, A. H., Ransford, B., Scopelliti, K., Frazier, E. A., & Liu, R. T. (2019). Emotion dysregulation and non-suicidal self-injury: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *European psychiatry: the journal of the Association of European Psychiatrists*, *59*, 25–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.03.004
- Woody, M. L., Feurer, C., Sosoo, E. E., Hastings, P. D., & Gibb, B. E. (2016). Synchrony of physiological activity during mother-child interaction: moderation by maternal history of major depressive disorder. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry, and allied disciplines*, 57(7), 843–850. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12562
- Wu, H., Gao, Q., Chen, D., Zhou, X., & You, J. (2021). Emotion Reactivity and Suicide Ideation

Among Chinese Adolescents: A Longitudinal Serial Mediation Model. *Archives of suicide* research: official journal of the International Academy for Suicide Research, 1–13. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2021.2000541

- Yang, X., Daches, S., George, C. J., Kiss, E., Kapornai, K., Baji, I., & Kovacs, M. (2019).

 Autonomic correlates of lifetime suicidal thoughts and behaviors among adolescents with a history of depression. *Psychophysiology*, 56(8), e13378. https://doi.org/10.1111/psyp.13378
- Zeman, J., Cassano, M., Perry-Parrish, C., & Stegall, S. (2006). Emotion regulation in children and adolescents. *Journal of developmental and behavioral pediatrics : JDBP*, 27(2), 155–168. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004703-200604000-00014
- Ziker, J. P., & Snopkowski, K. (2020). Life-History Factors Influence Teenagers' Suicidal Ideation:
 A Model Selection Analysis of the Canadian National Longitudinal Survey of Children and Youth. Evolutionary psychology: an international journal of evolutionary approaches
 to psychology and behavior, 18(3), 1474704920939521.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1474704920939521

Tables

 Table 1

 Socio-demographic characteristics of participants

Socio-demographic characteristic	n	%
Sex		
Female	82	46.3
Male	95	53.7
Race/Ethnicity		
African American	104	58.8
Multiracial	30	16.9
Non-Hispanic White	17	9.6
Other (including Hispanic, Asian American, and Other)	24	13.6
Parental Education		
Less than High School	33	18.6
High School Degree or GED	74	41.8
Some College	45	25.4
Baccalaureate Degree	10	5.6
Post Baccalaureate Degree	7	4.0
Receiving TANF (Endorsing "Yes")	42	23.7
Family Income		
< \$10,000	10	5.6
\$10,000 - \$19,999	16	9.0
\$20,000 - \$29,999	23	13.0
\$30,000 - \$39,999	15	8.5
\$40,000 - \$59,999	23	13.0
\$60,000 - \$99,999	18	10.2
> \$100,000	14	7.9

Note. N = 177. Percentages sum to less than 100% due to missing data. GED = general educational development test. TANF = temporary assistance for needy families.

 Table 2

 Descriptive statistics for self-regulatory, life stress, and suicidality variables

Predictor Variable	M	SD
ERS	31.40	19.31
ERC ER	3.32	0.37
ERC L/N	1.74	0.38
Resting RSA	0.13	0.06
RSA Reactivity	-0.02	0.06
Flanker Reaction Time	38.23	31.44
Flanker Accuracy	-0.12	0.12
Stop Signal Reaction Time	303.34	98.04
Early Childhood Life Stress	4.47	2.44
Middle Childhood Life Stress	3.87	2.22
Suicidality	n	%
SI Intensity (<i>n</i> , %)		
No SI	136	76.8
Wish to be dead	13	7.3
Non-specific active suicidal thoughts	17	9.6
Active SI with any methods (not plan) without intent to act	2	1.1
Active SI with some intent to act, without specific plan	5	2.8
Active SI with specific plan and intent	4	2.3
Lifetime Suicide Attempt (n, %)		
No	166	93.8
Yes	10	5.6

Note. N = 177. Percentages sum to less than 100% due to missing data. ERS = Emotion

Reactivity Scale. ERC = Emotion Regulation Checklist. ER = emotion regulation (subscale). L/N = lability/negativity (subscale). RSA = respiratory sinus arrhythmia. SI = suicidal ideation.

 Table 3

 Bivariate correlations among main study variables

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. SI Intensity	_									
2. ERS	.34***									
3. ERC ER	05	28***								
4. ERC L/N	.02	.27***	57***							
5. Resting RSA	.03	.00	00	09						
6. RSA Reactivity	08	05	.04	00	59***					
7. Flanker	07	00	.19*	12	.10	05				
8. Stop Signal Reaction Time	.09	.09	07	.06	.03	.02	08			
9. Early Childhood Life Stress	.04	.09	26***	.34***	.07	02	11	.22**		
10. Middle Childhood Life Stress	.07	.04	24**	.34***	.01	07	04	.17*	.56***	
11. SES	03	06	.38***	31***	.04	11	.16	35***	36***	39***

Note. SI = suicidal ideation. ERS = Emotion Reactivity Scale. ERC = Emotion Regulation Checklist. ER = emotion regulation (subscale). L/N = lability/negativity (subscale). RSA= respiratory sinus arrhythmia. SES = adolescent socioeconomic status.

 $p^* < .05. p^* < .01. p^* < .001.$

 Table 4

 Multiple linear regression predicting SI intensity from ERS and sex

Variable	В	SE B	β	t	p
ERS	0.02	0.01	.38	4.99	< .001
Sex	0.07	0.19	.03	0.40	.690

Note. SI = suicidal ideation. ERS = Emotion Reactivity Scale.

Appendix A

Life Stress Scoring Rubric

 Table A1

 Primary caregiver risk index scoring rubric

Item	Scoring rubric	Notes
PCG mental health problem	1 = PCG reported mental health issue(s) 0 = PCG did not report any mental health issue	Seeking care (e.g., medication, therapy, talking to the doctor, going to the emergency room) was counted as a risk whether or not a diagnosis was specified or treatment plan was followed.
PCG criminal justice involvement	1 = PCG was involved with criminal justice system 0 = PCG was not involved with criminal justice system	Legal problems relating to civil suits and/or family court (visitation, child support, etc.) did not qualify for criminal justice system involvement.
PCG substance use	1 = PCG reported substance use (i.e., marijuana, alcohol, or illicit drug use) 0 = PCG did not report substance use	Marijuana use was counted as a risk if PCG had daily/problematic use or sought treatment. Alcohol use was counted as a risk if PCG had daily/almost daily/problematic use, engaged in binge drinking (≥ four drinks per day for women and ≥ five drinks per day for men), or sought treatment. Social drinking was not counted as a risk unless there was evidence indicating excessive drinking (e.g., binge drinking).
PCG single parenthood	1 = PCG did not identify any co-parent 0 = PCG identified co- parent(s)	

Note. PCG = primary caregiver.

 Table A2

 Family instability risk index scoring rubric

Item	Scoring rubric	Notes
Residential instability	1 = Family had one or more moves0 = Family had no moves	
Relationship instability	1 = Relationship(s) ended or begun0 = No relationships ended or begun	Temporary break-up and reunion with the same partner was counted as a risk.
Homelessness	1 = Homeless 0 = Not homeless	Living in the shelter/car or doubling up with family due to loss of housing qualified for homelessness, while receiving housing assistance did not.
Separations from PCG or changes in caregiver	1 = Child had separation(s) from PCG or change(s) in caregiver 0 = Child had no separations from PCG and no changes in caregiver	
CPS involvement	1 = Family had any involvement with CPS 0 = Family had no involvement with CPS	Allegations that did not require follow- up investigations qualified for CPS involvement. Purchase of care or childcare vouchers did not qualify for CPS involvement unless maltreatment allegations were mentioned.
Removal of other children from home	 1 = Other children removed or placed with other caregivers 0 = No other children removed or placed with other caregivers 	
Violence or abuse in the family	1 = Violence/abuse experienced by any family member or the child 0 = No violence/abuse experienced by any family member or the child	
Deaths of close family members	1 = Death(s) of close family members 0 = No deaths of close family members	Only deaths of close family members (e.g., parents, caregivers, siblings) were counted as a risk. Grandparents were only counted if identified as caregivers, lived with the child, or identified as having a close relationship with the child.

Note. PCG = primary caregiver. CPS = child protective services.